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COMPLAINT 

This complaint is filed pursuant to 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(1) and is based on information and 

belief that WeBuildTheWall, Inc., has violated the Federal Election Campaign Act (“FECA”), 52 

U.S.C. § 30101 et seq.  

1. On August 1, 2019, WeBuildTheWall solicited its email subscribers for contributions to 

the United States Senate campaign of Kris Kobach, who is a director of 

WeBuildTheWall. By doing so, WeBuildTheWall violated the federal prohibition on 

corporate facilitation of contributions to candidates, 11 C.F.R. § 114.2(f). 

2. “If the Commission, upon receiving a complaint . . . has reason to believe that a person 

has committed, or is about to commit, a violation of [FECA] . . . [t]he Commission shall 

make an investigation of such alleged violation . . . .” 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(2) (emphasis 

added); see also 11 C.F.R. § 111.4(a). 
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FACTS 

3. WeBuildTheWall, Inc., is a Florida corporation.1 WeBuildTheWall’s website is 

webuildthewall.us. 

4. Kris Kobach is a candidate in the 2020 United States Senate election in Kansas.2 Kobach 

for Senate (FEC ID C00711325) is Kobach’s authorized committee.3 

5. Kobach is a director of WeBuildTheWall.4  

6. On August 1, 2019, the following mass email was sent from the address 

“info@webuildthewall.us”:5 

                                                 
1  Fla. Dep’t of State Division of Corps., Search for Corporations, 

http://search.sunbiz.org/Inquiry/CorporationSearch/ByName (search for WeBuildTheWall) (last visited Aug. 8, 

2019). 

2  Kris Kobach, FEC Form 2,  

https://docquery.fec.gov/pdf/473/201907089150453473/201907089150453473.pdf 

3  Id. 

4  See Fla. Dep’t of State, supra n.1; see also We Build the Wall, https://webuildthewall.us/team/ (last visited 

Aug. 8, 2019). 

5  See Lachlan Markay, Kris Kobach Uses Border Wall Group to Fund Senate Bid, Likely Illegally, Daily 

Beast (updated Aug. 2, 2019), https://www.thedailybeast.com/kris-kobach-uses-border-wall-group-to-fund-senate-

bid-likely-illegally. 
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7. In the email, the two “Kobach For Senate” banners and the phrase “this link” were 

hyperlinked to Kobach for Senate’s fundraising page, https://secure.anedot.com/kobach-

for-senate/. 

8. On August 2, 2019, Common Cause and Paul S. Ryan filed with the Commission a 

complaint noting a number of FECA violations arising from this email.6 

SUMMARY OF THE LAW 

9. FECA prohibits any corporation from making a contribution in connection with a federal 

election. 52 U.S.C. § 30118. Commission regulations implementing this statute prohibit 

corporations from “facilitating the making of contributions to candidates or political 

committees.” 11 C.F.R. § 114.2(f)(1). “Facilitation means using corporate . . . resources 

or facilities to engage in fundraising activities in connection with any federal 

election . . . .” Id. 

10. The Commission has made clear that “fundraising activities” for purposes of section 

114.2(f) include soliciting contributions, helping contributors make contributions, or 

helping campaigns engage in these activities, such as by hosting and organizing 

fundraising events or by providing “stamps, envelopes . . . , or other similar items which 

would aid in transmitting or delivering contributions.” 11 C.F.R. § 114.2(f)(2); see, e.g., 

MUR 6322 (Square), Factual & Legal Analysis at 5 (Mar. 21, 2011), 

http://eqs.fec.gov/eqsdocsMUR/11044291719.pdf (noting that corporation would violate 

facilitation ban by allowing its logo to appear on invitation to campaign fundraiser); 

MUR 6218 (Ball4NY), Factual & Legal Analysis at 8 (June 22, 2010), 

http://eqs.fec.gov/eqsdocsMUR/10044273088.pdf (same); MUR 6215 (Tate Snyder 

                                                 
6  See https://www.commoncause.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/CC-v.-Kobach_FEC-

Complaint_8.2.19.pdf. 



 

5 

 

 

Kimsey Architects), Factual & Legal Analysis at 11-15 (July 27, 2010), 

http://eqs.fec.gov/eqsdocsMUR/15044384605.pdf (finding that corporation violated 

facilitation ban by having corporate staff plan fundraiser, soliciting attendance at 

fundraiser, paying for catering at fundraiser, and collecting contributions at fundraiser); 

cf. MUR 7111 (Trump), Factual & Legal Analysis at 6 (June 18, 2018), 

http://eqs.fec.gov/eqsdocsMUR/18044445579.pdf (affirming that “[f]acilitation means 

using corporate resources or facilities to engage in fundraising activities in connection 

with any federal election” but dismissing matter because complaint “fail[ed] to implicate 

any fundraising activity”). 

CAUSE OF ACTION 

I. WEBUILDTHEWALL VIOLATED THE PROHIBITION ON CORPORATE 

FACILITATION OF CONTRIBUTIONS 

 

11. As set forth above, WeBuildTheWall—which is a corporation—sent an email that 

explicitly solicited contributions to Kobach for Senate. The email was sent from a 

“webuildthewall.us” email address; used the sent-by name “Kris Kobach — 

WeBuildTheWall, Inc.”; displayed the WeBuildTheWall logo in the header; and 

concluded with the signature line “General Counsel, WeBuildTheWall.” 

12. Under the Commission’s regulations and precedents, WeBuildTheWall violated section 

114.2(f) by: 

a. soliciting contributions to Kobach for Senate, 11 C.F.R. § 114.2(f)(1) (prohibiting 

corporate “fundraising activities in connection with any federal election”); 

b. using WeBuildTheWall’s email list to solicit contributions to Kobach for Senate, 

11 C.F.R. § 114.2(f)(2)(i)(C) (prohibiting use of “corporate . . . list of customers, 

clients, vendors, or others . . . to solicit contributions”); 
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c. providing the link for recipients to make contributions to Kobach for Senate, see 

11 C.F.R. § 114.2(f)(ii) (prohibiting corporations from “[p]roviding materials for 

the purpose of transmitting of delivering contributions, such as stamps, envelopes 

addressed to a . . . political committee . . . , or other similar items which would 

assist in transmitting or delivering contributions”); and 

d. using WeBuildTheWall’s corporate logo on the solicitation; MUR 6322 (Square), 

Factual & Legal Analysis at 5 (Mar. 21, 2011), 

http://eqs.fec.gov/eqsdocsMUR/11044291719.pdf; MUR 6218 (Ball4NY), 

Factual & Legal Analysis at 8 (June 22, 2010), 

http://eqs.fec.gov/eqsdocsMUR/10044273088.pdf. 

13. Therefore, there is reason to believe that WeBuildTheWall facilitated contributions to 

Kobach for Senate, in violation of 52 U.S.C. § 30118 and 11 C.F.R. § 114.2(f). 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

14. Wherefore, the Commission should find reason to believe that WeBuildTheWall violated 

52 U.S.C. § 30118 and 11 C.F.R. § 114.2(f) and conduct an immediate investigation 

under 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(2). Further, the Commission should determine and impose 

appropriate sanctions for any and all violations, should enjoin the respondent from any 

and all violations in the future, and should impose such additional remedies as are 

necessary and appropriate to ensure compliance with FECA. 








